89915-1

NO. 310345

FEB 1 0 2014

COURT OF ASSESSED STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BANK OF NEW YORK, AS TRUSTEE PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THAT CERTAIN POOLING AND SERVICING AGREEMENT DATED AS OF NOVEMBER 1, 1996 RELATED TO METROPOLITAN ASSET FUNDING, INC., MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES SERIES 1996-A,

Respondent,

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
V. ARGUMENT				
A.	SIGNIFICANT ISSUES OF CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS.	l 1		
В.	CONFLICT WITH COURT OF APPEALS' DECISIONS. 1	i 4		
C.	SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST	17		
D.	CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT OPINIONS	18		
VI. CONCLUSION				

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Bates v. Grace United Methodist Church, 12 Wn.App. 111, 529 P.2d 466 (Div. II, 1974) 15
Bitzan v. Parisi, 88 Wn.2d 116, 558 P.2d 775 (1977)
Duckworth v. Bonney Lake, 91 Wn.2d 19, 21, 586 P.2d 860 (1978) 14
Jacobsen v. State, 89 Wn.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977) 11
Kofmehl v. Baseline Lake, LLC, 167 Wn.App. 677, 275 P.3d 328 (Div. III, 2012)
Landberg v. Carlson, 108 Wn.App. 749, 33 P.3d 406 (Div. III, 2001) 15
Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976)
R.D. Merrill Co. v. Pollution Control Hearings Board, 137 Wn.2d 118, 969 P.2d 458 (1999) 18
Renfro v. Kaur, 156 Wn.App. 655, 235 P.3d 800 (Div. I, 2010)
State ex rel. Zempel v. Twitchell, 59 Wn.2d 419, 424-25, 367 P.2d 985 (1962)
White v. Kent Medical Center, 61 Wn.App. 163, 810 P.2d 4 (Div. I, 1991) . 18
Bates v. Grace United Methodist Church, 12 Wn.App. 111, 529 P.2d 466 (Div. II, 1974)
Bitzan v. Parisi, 88 Wn.2d 116, 558 P.2d 775 (1977)
Duckworth v. Bonney Lake, 91 Wn.2d 19, 21, 586 P.2d 860 (1978) 14
Jacobsen v. State, 89 Wn.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977) 11

Kofmehl v. Baseline Lake, LLC, 167 Wn.App. 677, 275 P.3d 328 (Div. III, 2012)				
Landberg v. Carlson, 108 Wn.App. 749, 33 P.3d 406 (Div. III, 2001) 15				
Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976)				
R.D. Merrill Co. v. Pollution Control Hearings Board, 137 Wn.2d 118, 969 P.2d 458 (1999) 18				
Renfro v. Kaur, 156 Wn.App. 655, 235 P.3d 800 (Div. I, 2010) 14				
State ex rel. Zempel v. Twitchell, 59 Wn.2d 419, 424-25, 367 P.2d 985 (1962)				
White v. Kent Medical Center, 61 Wn.App. 163, 810 P.2d 4 (Div. I, 1991) . 18				
STATUTES				
RCW 7.28.230(1)				
RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE				
RAP 13.4(b)				
RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE				
CR 56(c) 18, 20				

`.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS.

This Joint Petition for Discretionary Review by the Supreme Court is filed by Marco T. Barbanti, Royal Pottage Enterprises, Inc., and Junco Frost Lavinia, Inc.

II. DECISION FOR WHICH REVIEW IS SOUGHT. The Decision for which review is being sought was rendered by the Court of Appeals for the State of Washington, Division III in the case of *Bank of New York v. Marco T. Barbanti, et al*, Case No. 31034-5-III wherein the Court of Appeals affirmed in part and reversed in part the decision by the Spokane County Superior Court in Case No. 102045702. The Decision by the Court of Appeals was filed on December 12, 2013. A Joint Motion for Reconsideration was filed on January 2, 2014. The Joint Motion for Reconsideration was denied by Decision filed on January 9, 2014. This Joint Petition seeks review of the part of the Court of Appeals' Decision which affirmed the Superior Court's decision.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

The Joint Petition presents the following two issues for review:

- 1. When ruling on a summary judgment motion, does a Court have the authority to reach beyond the scope of the moving party's motion and decide issues that are not raised in the motion?
- 2. The previous issue notwithstanding, does a Court ruling on a

summary judgment have the authority to resolve factual issues in the context of a summary judgment motion and grant summary judgment when there is a dispute on material facts presented in the record before the Court?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Brian and Lisa Hooper (hereinafter "Hooper") owned a piece of real property commonly known as 5711 N. Division, Spokane, WA 99207 (Clerk's Papers (CP) 1-42; 121-155; 156-309; 109-120). The property at 5711 N. Division, Spokane, WA 99207 is the subject of this litigation (hereinafter "subject property") (CP 1-42; 121-155; 156-309; 109-120). On or about March 25, 1993 Hooper executed and delivered a promissory note (hereinafter "Hooper note") to Metropolitan Mortgage & Securities, Co. Inc.(CP 1-42; 121-155; 156-309; 109-120). The promissory note was secured by a Deed of Trust which was recorded on April 23, 1993 under Auditor's File No. 9304230387 in the records of Spokane County, Washington (hereinafter "Hooper deed of trust")(CP 1-42; 121-155; 156-309; 109-120). Metropolitan Mortgage assigned its interests in the Hooper Note and Deed of Trust to Respondent Bank of New York (BNY)(CP 59-108).

In May, 1996 Petitioner Marco T. Barbanti (hereinafter "Barbanti") purchased the subject property from Hooper for \$160,000.00 (CP 121-155; 156-309). The purchase price for the subject property was to be paid as follows: \$7,000.00 cash paid at closing; and the balance of \$153,000.00

pursuant to a real estate contract (hereinafter "Hooper-Barbanti contract")(CP 121-155; 156-309). The Hooper-Barbanti contract was recorded on May 24, 1996 under Auditor's File No. 960520463 in the records of Spokane County, Washington (CP 121-155; 156-309).

The Hooper-Barbanti contract provided that Barbanti's purchase of the subject property was done "subject to" the underlying Hooper note and Hooper deed of trust (CP 156-309). The Hooper-Barbanti contract specifically stated that the Hooper note continued to be Hooper's obligation, however Barbanti was to provide Hooper with the funds necessary to discharge the monthly obligation under the Hooper note (CP 156-309). At the time of the sale of the subject property the amount owed by Hooper on the Hooper note was \$133,549.83 (CP 156-309). An escrow account was set up to pass through payments from Barbanti to Hooper to Metropolitan Mortgage & Securities, Inc. to apply on the Hooper note (Allegro Escrow Account Number 15206)(CP 156-309). Barbanti's obligation to provide funds to Hooper was for the underlying obligation was subject to any future adjustments that may be made in the amount of that obligation (CP 156-309).

The difference between the amount owed by Hooper on the Hooper note and the unpaid balance on the Hooper-Barbanti contract was \$19,450.17 as of the closing date of the Hooper-Barbanti purchase and sale (CP 156-309). A separate escrow account (Allegro Escrow Account Number 15208)

was set up to collect the monthly contract payment that was payable directly to Hooper (CP 156-309).

Mr. Barbanti stopped making payments to Hooper in the pass through account (Allegro Escrow Account Number 15206) in 2000 (CP 156-309). The next due date on the pass through account is 1-1-2001 (CP 156-309). The last payment made on the Hooper note was made on March 8, 2003 (CP 156-309). By Quit Claim Deed recorded July 21, 2003 under Auditor's File No. 4929722 in the records of Spokane County, Washington Barbanti quit claimed his interest in the subject property to Petitioner Royal Pottage Enterprises, Inc. (hereinafter "Royal Pottage") (CP 109-120). Barbanti did not assign his interest in the Hooper-Barbanti contract nor did Royal Pottage assume the purchaser's obligations under that contract.(CP 1-42; 397-404).

Petitioner Junco Frost Lavinia, Inc. (hereinafter "Junco Frost") is the judgment creditor under Judgment No. 02901497-6 entered in Spokane County Superior Court Case No. 02-2-00486-0 against Barbanti (CP 1-42; 397-404).

On April 16, 2009 BNY commenced a lawsuit in the Spokane County Superior Court (Case No. 09-2-01686-5) (hereinafter "BNY One") (CP 156-309). BNY One sought to reduce the unpaid balance on the Hooper note to a judgment and then sought to judicially foreclose the Hooper deed of trust to satisfy the judgment (CP 156-309). The judicial foreclosure also sought

to extinguish the interests of all the Defendants that were junior to the Hooper note and deed of trust (CP 156-309).

Barbanti, Royal Pottage, and Junco Frost moved to dismiss the Complaint in BNY One on the grounds that the Complaint had been filed after the statute of limitations had expired on the enforcement of the Hooper note (CP 156-309). Royal Pottage also moved to quiet title and have the Hooper deed of trust reconveyed (CP 156-309). The Defendants' Motions to Dismiss BNY One were granted, the lawsuit was dismissed, the deed of trust was ordered reconveyed and judgments in favor of the Defendants were entered including an award of attorney's fees and costs in favor of the prevailing Defendants (CP 156-309).

BNY filed an appeal. (Washington State Court of Appeals, Division III Case No. 295851)(CP 156-309). The appeal **did not** assign error to or challenge the Superior Court's decision which ruled that the Hooper note was no longer enforceable because the lawsuit had been commenced after the applicable statute of limitations had expired (CP 156-309). The appeal in Bank of New York 2009 also **did not** assign error to or challenge the Superior Court's order reconveying the Hooper deed of trust (CP 156-309). The appeal in Bank of New York 2009 **only** assigned error to the award of attorney's fees and costs in favor of the prevailing Defendants and to the

additional language used by the Superior Court in its order reconveying the Hooper deed of trust where, in Bank of New York's opinion, the Superior Court went beyond reconveying the Hooper deed of trust when it declared that title be quieted in favor of Royal Pottage (CP 156-309). The Court of Appeals reversed the part of the Superior Court's decision in BNY One awarding attorney's fees and costs to the prevailing Defendants and reversed the part of the Superior Court's decisions which stated that title was quieted in favor of Royal Pottage (CP 156-309). A Petition for Discretionary Review was filed with the Washington State Supreme Court and that Petition was denied.

On September 16, 2010 Hooper executed a Deed and Seller's Assignment of Real Estate Contract (hereinafter "Seller's Assignment") which was recorded on September 24, 2010 under Auditor's File No. 5936989 in the records of Spokane County, Washington (CP 59-108; 109-120). In the Seller's Assignment Hooper quit claimed its interest in the subject property to BNY and also assigned and transferred to BNY all of Hooper's right, title and interest in the Hooper-Barbanti contract (CP 59-108; 109-120). The parties to the Seller's Assignment did not do a UCC filing for their transaction (CP 156-309).

On October 28, 2010 the Summons and Complaint in the present case

(hereinafter "BNY Two") were filed. (CP 1-42). In BNY Two the Plaintiff, BNY, in its newly acquired status as assignee of the seller's interest under the Hooper-Barbanti contract, sought to foreclose judicially the Hooper-Barbanti contract due to an alleged failure to make payments. (CP 1-42). The BNY Two Complaint also sought to extinguish the interests of the other named defendants that were junior to the Hooper-Barbanti contract and to quiet title in favor of BNY. (CP 1-42).

Even though **no Answer had been filed by the Defendants**, BNY moved for Summary Judgment in this case. (CP 54-56). BNY's Summary Judgment Motion sought to foreclose the Hooper-Barbanti Contract and quiet title in favor of BNY however the Motion **never sought a determination that Barbanti and/or his successor in interest were in default** of any contractual obligation. (CP 54-56).

Since the inception of the Hooper-Barbanti contract in May, 1996 and at all times material to this litigation Barbanti has regularly and timely made the monthly payments payable directly to Hooper under the Hooper-Barbanti contract (Allegro Escrow Account No. 15208)(CP 156-309). After the execution and recording of the Seller's Assignment in September, 2010, the records held by Allegro Escrow Services, Inc. for Account No. 15208 continued to show that each monthly payment made by Barbanti was being

disbursed to Hooper and not to Bank of New York (CP 156-309). Bank of New York not only failed to file a UCC statement for its Seller's Assignment but it also failed to notify the escrow agent of any assignment of Hooper's interest in the contract (CP 156-309; 121-155; 320-331).

Barbanti continued to make the regular monthly payment to Hooper under Allegro Escrow Account No. 15208 up to and including the March, 2012 payment (CP 156-309). After making the March, 2012 regular payment, Barbanti requested a payoff quote from Allegro Escrow for the Hooper account (CP 156-309). Pursuant to the payoff quote prepared by Allegro Escrow, on March 26, 2012 Barbanti paid the entire outstanding balance on the Hooper-Barbanti contract in full (CP 156-309). The Allegro Escrow Account No. 15208 was closed and Barbanti was given the original Hooper-Barbanti contract marked "ALLEGRO SERVICES, INC. PAID IN FULL" and Barbanti was given the original Statutory Warranty Fulfillment Deed (dated May 21, 1996) which had been held by the escrow agent until such time as the contract was paid in full (CP 156-309). The original Statutory Warranty Fulfillment Deed was recorded on March 26, 2012 under Auditor's File No. 6078471 in the records of Spokane County, Washington (CP 156-309).

Defendants Barbanti, Royal Pottage, and Junco Frost opposed the

Plaintiff's Summary Judgment on multiple grounds including but not limited to:

- 1. The Hooper-Barbanti contract had been fully satisfied in part as the result of the Court's final decision in BNY One which ruled that the Hooper Note was no longer enforceable and in part due to Barbanti's full payment of all amounts owed to Hooper. The evidence for this claim was the decision in BNY One and the release of the original real estate contract stamped "PAID IN FULL" and the release and recording of the Statutory Warranty Fulfillment Deed for the Hooper-Barbanti contract.
- 2. In this case BNY stood in Hooper's shoes (as a result of the previously discussed assignment by Hooper) and therefore because Hooper was bound by the result in BNY One so too was BNY, as Hooper's successor, bound by the doctrines of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel (arising from the decision in BNY One) from attempting to collect any monies allegedly owed under the Hooper note and deed of trust because the earlier litigation between the same parties resulted in a final judgment declaring the Hooper note unenforceable and ordering the Hooper deed of trust reconveyed.
- 3. BNY failed to meet its burden as the moving party in a summary judgment because it failed to allege that Mr. Barbanti was in default or the

dollar amount of Mr. Barbanti's alleged default under the Hooper-Barbanti contract. Therefore the Court had no facts before it (either disputed or undisputed) to form a basis for a judgment of foreclosure of the contract. Barbanti and the other Defendants raised additional issues in opposition to the Summary Judgment Motion but those issues are not relevant in this Petition. (CP 121-155; 156-309).

The Superior Court ignored all these arguments and entered the Order Granting Summary Judgment which summarily quieted title in favor of BNY (CP 332-336). The decision was appealed. (CP 337-344). The Court of Appeals in an unpublished opinion (Case No. 31034-5-III) reversed the part of the decision of the Superior Court which quieted title in favor of BNY. However in its Opinion (See p. 13 Unpublished Opinion) the Court of Appeals affirmed the conclusion that Barbanti was in default of his payment obligation under the contract despite the fact that: the Motion did not request that finding; the Superior Court made no such finding or conclusion; and the Court of Appeals specifically ruled that the Superior Court had not made any determination regarding the amount of Barbanti's alleged default. A Motion for Reconsideration was filed and denied by the Court of Appeals. This Petition ensued.

V. ARGUMENT.

RAP 13.4(b) governs whether a Petition for Discretionary Review is accepted by the Supreme Court. The Rule provides that review "will" be accepted only if one or more of the following criteria are met:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). The Petitioners contend that this Joint Petition presents adequate basis for accepting review on all four grounds outlined in the rule for reasons discussed herein.

A. SIGNIFICANT ISSUES OF CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS.

It is "horn book" law in Washington that the summary judgment procedure is designed to avoid an unnecessary trial when there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Jacobsen v. State*, 89 Wn.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977). The Washington Supreme Court continued in *Jacobsen*:

However, a trial is *absolutely* necessary if there is a genuine issue as to any material fact....A 'material fact' is one upon which the outcome of the litigation depends...

Jacobsen, supra at p. 108 (Citations omitted) (Emphasis added).

A litigant's right to his/her day in court is **absolute** and can only be truncated if the litigation presents no dispute of a material fact. In this case the decision by the Court of Appeals must be reviewed because not only did the Court of Appeals ignore an obvious dispute on a material fact, but the Court of Appeals overstepped the bounds of a court's authority in the context of a summary judgement motion and went beyond the call of BNY's Motion to decide issues that were not specified in the Summary Judgment Motion. Ignoring a dispute of a material fact in the context of deciding a summary judgment motion and reaching an issue that is not raised or presented in the summary judgment motion (or the trial court's decision on the motion) is contrary to the well established principles enunciated by this Court and directly conflicts with decisions in all the other Court of Appeals Divisions.

In addition if such action by the Court of Appeals remains unchallenged it opens the door to divesting litigants of their right to have a trial on the merits of their claims and defenses when a dispute of material fact is presented. The implications of such a precedent will lead to erosion of the rights of every litigant who goes to court in the State of Washington.

The solution to the problem created by the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case is simple. The entire case should be reversed and remanded for trial. There is no precedential "down side" to this solution because the Court of Appeals has already reversed and remanded the case for a determination of the amount of Barbanti's alleged default (a dispute of material fact requiring a trial). The remand can easily include instructions to determine the existence of a default at the same trial. In fact the two issues intuitively go hand in hand. Determining the amount of an alleged default *a fortiori* requires determination of the existence of the default.

There is no basis in the record before the Superior Court or the Court of Appeals for either Court to reach out and decide the issue of whether Mr. Barbanti defaulted in his contractual obligations just like there is no basis in the record to determine the extent, if any, of Mr. Barbanti's default. BNY's Motion never requested a determination that Mr. Barbanti was in default (CP 54-56). The Superior Court's Order Granting Summary Judgment (CP 332-336) fails to address either the issue of whether a default exists or the issue of the amount of the alleged default. Logically if the remedy for the oversight on the "dollar amount" issue is a reversal and remand for trial, the same result is mandated on the companion issue. If this decision is not reviewed it will be "open season" for courts in Washington to undercut the decisional law from this Court and resolve factual disputes in summary judgment proceedings and decide issues even if the issues are not raised in the pleadings. All this will take place while divesting litigants of the right to a

trial on the facts. The due process implications of circumventing what this Court has called the "absolute" right to a trial are readily apparent. Summary judgment will become synonymous with summary execution and all litigants will suffer.

This Court has ruled that the function of a summary judgment proceeding is to determine whether a genuine issue of material fact exists. It is not to resolve issues of fact or to arrive at conclusions based thereon. *Duckworth v. Bonney Lake*, 91 Wn.2d 19, 21, 586 P.2d 860 (1978) citing *State ex rel. Zempel v. Twitchell*, 59 Wn.2d 419, 424-25, 367 P.2d 985 (1962). In this case the Court of Appeals reached out and decided an issue that was not properly before it and made that decision in contravention of the well established decisional law from this Court and all the Divisions of the Court of Appeals. Before this type of egregious conduct becomes the law of the case, it is incumbent on this Court to review the Decision to insure that litigants in the civil courts are afforded adequate opportunity to be heard. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976).

B. CONFLICT WITH COURT OF APPEALS' DECISIONS.

A review of decisions on this issue from all **three** Divisions of the Court of Appeals further documents the problem in this case and the need to review the decision at issue. In *Renfro v. Kaur*, 156 Wn.App. 655, 661, 235

P.3d 800 (Div. I, 2010) the Court ruled in a contract interpretation context that summary judgment is not proper if the parties' written contract when viewed in light of the parties other objective manifestations has two or more reasonable but competing meanings. In *Bates v. Grace United Methodist Church*, 12 Wn.App. 111, 112-3, 529 P.2d 466 (Div. II, 1974) the Court ruled in a summary judgment context it must accept as true the evidence asserted by the nonmoving party and it must give the nonmoving party the benefit of all reasonable inferences therefrom.

Even decisions from Division III contravene the decision made by the Court of Appeals in this case. In *Landberg v. Carlson*, 108 Wn.App. 749, 753, 33 P.3d 406 (Div. III, 2001) the Court ruled that summary judgment is a procedure for testing the existence of a party's evidence.

The decision by the Court of Appeals in this case demands review because the Court in reviewing a summary judgment motion (that was filed before the Defendants answered the Complaint) used the summary judgment process not to test the existence of a party's evidence but instead to resolve a dispute of material fact (Is Mr. Barbanti in default?) when that issue was not even presented by the pleadings on file. The need to review the Court's decision becomes even more overwhelming when viewed in light of the fact that the Court of Appeals ruled that the corollary issue of the amount of Mr.

Barbanti's alleged default had not been resolved and hence the case remanded on that issue.

The record before the Court of Appeals and Superior Court contained a Summary Judgment Motion seeking to quiet title to certain real estate. The moving party's arguments surrounding the Motion implied that some default existed but never sought a determination from the Court on that fact. The nonmoving parties responded by asserting defenses based upon *res judicata* and collateral estoppel but more importantly they presented the undisputed fact that the contract in question was fully performed in part as a result of BNY One and in part due to Mr. Barbanti's payoff. The undisputed evidence in the record showed the contract paid in full and the warranty fulfillment deed had been recorded.

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