SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CH

BANK OF NEW YORK, AS TRUSTEE PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THAT CERTAIN POOLING AND SERVICING AGREEMENT DATED AS OF NOVEMBER 1, 1996 RELATED TO METROPOLITAN ASSET FUNDING, INC., MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES SERIES 1996-A,

Respondent,

v.

MARCO T. BARBANTI, ROYAL POTTAGE ENTERPRISES, STERLING SAVING BANK, JUNCO FROST LAVINIA, INC., UNIFUND CCR PARTNERS, AND BANKERS TRUST COMPANY OF CALIFORNIA,

Petitioners.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Craig Peterson, WSBA #15935 Rhonna Kollenkark, WSBA # 35526 Robinson Tait, P.S. 710 Second Avenue, Suite 710 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone (206) 676-9640 Facsimile (206) 676-9659

Counsel for Respondent

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

II. ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review.

The Washington State Supreme Court only accepts a petition for review of an appellate court's decision in certain limited circumstances. Those circumstances justifying review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b) as follows:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The present petition for discretionary review involves the Court of Appeals' decision to uphold a portion of a trial court's ruling on summary judgment. Review of a trial court's decision on summary judgment is de novo. Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400, 154 Wash.2d 16, 26, 109 P.3d 805 (2005). An appellate court will affirm an order granting summary judgment if "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Indoor Billboard/Washington, Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Washington, Inc., 162 Wash. 2d 59, 69-70, 170 P.3d 10, 15-16 (2007)(citing CR 56(c)). Uncontroverted, relevant facts offered in support of summary judgment are deemed established. Cent. Wash. Bank v. Mendelson-Zeller, Inc., 113 Wash.2d 346, 354, 779 P.2d 697 (1989). Additionally, an appellate court may affirm a trial court's disposition of a summary judgment motion on any basis supported by the record. Redding v. Virginia Mason Med. Ctr., 75 Wash.App. 424, 426, 878 P.2d 483 (1994). The appellate court may uphold the decision on summary judgment if the court determines that, based on all of the evidence, reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion. Vallandigham, 154 Wash.2d at 26, 109 P.3d 805.

The record on appeal clearly demonstrates that none of the four factors warranting review under RAP 13.4(b) are present in this The sole basis for discretionary review is the petitioner's case. contention that Barbanti's default was never at issue before the trial court and therefore could not be affirmed by the Court of Appeals. There is ample evidence in the record on appeal demonstrating that the trial court considered the question of whether Barbanti was in default. The record also reflects that Barbanti's default was supported by uncontroverted evidence submitted by BNY and by Barbanti's own admissions. The record on appeal supports the Appellate Court's decision that summary judgment on the question of Barbanti's default was properly decided in favor of BNY. As such, the Appellate Court's decision does not conflict with other appellate or Supreme Court decisions, nor does the opinion present significant questions of constitutional law or involve a substantial public interest.

Review under RAP 13.4(b) therefore is inappropriate and should not be granted.

2. The Finding of a Fact that is Not in Dispute Does Not Implicate a Significant Question of Constitutional Law.

Barbanti's assertion that his due process rights were violated is directly refuted by the record on appeal. The record clearly shows that his default on the Hooper-Barbanti contract was alleged in BNY's Complaint. The record also demonstrates that the issue of Barbanti's default was directly addressed in BNY's Motion for Summary Judgment and that Barbanti addressed the allegations of default in his Response brief. CP 109-120, 121-151. BNY's Reply on Summary Judgment again offered additional argument in support of its allegation that Barbanti was in default. CP 310-319. Barbanti clearly had an opportunity to address the allegations of contractual default on summary judgment and his assertion to the contrary patently disregards the record on appeal.

Not only did Barbanti have the opportunity to submit argument against the allegations of his default, he also had the opportunity to submit evidence in support of his position. To that end, Barbanti submitted a declaration in which he admitted to failing to make the payments due and owing under the Hooper-Barbanti

contract. CP at 159-161. As Barbanti's own declaration testimony supported BNY's contention that he was in default, the trial court was entitled to treat Barbanti's default as an established, uncontroverted fact. *See e.g. Cent. Wash. Bank*, 113 Wash.2d at 354. Thus, there was no genuine issue of material fact as to Barbanti's default on the Hooper-Barbanti contract and the Court of Appeals did not violate Barbanti's due process right in upholding the trial court's ruling.

To the extent that Barbanti is arguing that the trial court's ruling should have been denied for failure to enter a specific finding of fact as to the state of Barbanti's default, that assertion lacks merit. Even without a finding of fact, the court of appeals can affirm the trial court's decision on any facts supported by the record. Here the record clearly supports the finding that Barbanti was in default under the contract. Additionally, doing so does not infringe upon Barbanti's due process rights as the question of his default was actively litigated by the parties below. Barbanti's claim that his due process rights were violated is specious and in deliberate disregard of the record on appeal. As such, review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) is unwarranted.

3. The Court of Appeals' Decision in BNY Two Does Not Conflict With Any Decisions From the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court.

As the Court of Appeals was well within its right to uphold the trail court's decision, BNY Two is consistent with the decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court. Accordingly, there is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b) (1) or (2). This proposition is supported by the cases cited by the Petitioners.

The Petitioners cite to *Renfro v. Kaur*, for the proposition that summary judgment "is not proper if the parties' written contract, viewed in light of the parties other objective manifestations, has two 'or more' reasonable but competing meanings." *Renfro v. Kaur*, 156 Wn. App. 655, 661, 235 P.3d 800, 802-03 (2010). This proposition is supported by the Court of Appeal's decision in BNY Two as both parties' objective manifestations indicated that Barbanti failed to make all payments owing and was therefore in default on the Hooper-Barbanti contract. The Court of Appeals was acting in conformity with Renfro when it affirmed the trial court's decision.

The petitioning parties also cite to *Bates v. Grace United Methodist Church*, 12 Wn. App. 111, 112-13, 529 P.2d 466, 467 (1974) for the proposition that a Court of Appeals must accept the truth of the evidence asserted by the non-moving party on summary judgment, and to *Landberg v. Carlson*, 108 Wn.App. 749, 753, 33 P.3d 406 (2001) for the proposition that summary judgment is a

procedure for testing the existence of the parties' evidence. Again, BNY Two is in accord with both of these cases. The evidence presented by the non-moving parties at trial established that Barbanti was in default under the Hooper-Barbanti contract for failure to make payment. Ample evidence in support of that contention was submitted by the parties, including Barbanti's own admissions made in his declaration. Thus none of the Court of Appeals' decisions cited by the petitioning parties conflict with BNY Two and review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) is inappropriate.

The petitioning parties lastly claim that BNY Two conflicts with this court's decision in *R.D. Merrill Co. v. State, Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 137 Wn. 2d 118, 148, 969 P.2d 458, 474 (1999). In *R.D. Merrill Co.*, the Supreme Court held that "nothing in CR 56(c) allows the raising of additional issues other than in the motion and memorandum in support of the motion." *R.D. Merrill Co.*, 137 Wn. 2d 118, 147 (citing *White v. Kent Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 61 Wash.App. 163, 168, 810 P.2d 4 (1991)). The rationale behind the limitation on raising additional issues on rebuttal is that "it is unfair to grant the extraordinary relief of summary judgment without allowing the nonmoving party the benefit of a clear opportunity to know on

what grounds summary judgment is sought." R.D. Merrill Co., 137 Wn. 2d 118, 148.

Nothing in BNY Two conflicts with the court's holding in *R.D. Merrill Co.* An examination of BNY's Motion for Summary Judgment and supporting papers clearly shows that the issue of Barbanti's default was raised in BNY's opening briefing. That contention was later addressed by Barbanti in his Response brief and supporting papers. Finally, BNY's reply brief rebutted the arguments put forth by Barbanti on the issue of his default. Unlike the moving party in *R.D. Merrill Co.*, BNY's Reply brief did not raise additional issues outside the scope of its initial Motion for Summary Judgment. Barbanti and the Petitioners were therefore afforded full opportunity to apprise themselves of the issues presented on summary judgment and respond accordingly. The holding articulated in *R.D. Merrill Co.* is not applicable to the facts of BNY Two.

The petitioning parties have failed to put forth any examples of case law from either the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court in support of their contention that RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) applies in the present case. As BNY Two is not in conflict with Washington decisions and the petitioning parties have failed to provide any examples to the contrary, this court should decline to accept review.

4. Overruling the Court's Decision in BNY Two Would Conflict with the Court of Appeals Prior Decision in BNY One.

While examination of the cases put forward by the petitioning parties and the record on appeal demonstrate that BNY Two is in accord with current Washington law, overturning the Court of Appeals' decision in BNY Two would be in direct conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision in BNY One.

In BNY One, the Court of Appeals addressed the question of Barbanti's compliance under the terms of the Hooper-Barbanti contract in the context of foreclosure of the underlying Deed of Trust. There the Court of Appeals stated that "Mr. Barbanti admitted he had failed to make the payments to escrow to pay the underlying deed of trust payments as required by his real estate contract with the Hoopers." *Bank of New York v. Hooper*, 164 Wn.App. 295, 299, 263 P.3d 1263 (2011) (review denied *Bank of New York v. Hooper*, 173 Wash. 2d 1021, 272 P.3d 850 (2012)). As the factual basis for both BNY One and BNY Two is identical, the Court of Appeals would have contradicted its prior finding had it not upheld the trial court's ruling on Barbanti's default in BNY Two. Thus the Supreme Court should not accept review of the Court of Appeals decision in BNY

Two as reversal of the Court of Appeals' decision would put it in conflict with the Court of Appeals' prior decision in BNY One.

5. The Decision to Affirm a Ruling on Summary Judgment that is Supported by Undisputed Facts Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Court of Appeals' affirmance of the trial court's well founded decision on summary judgment does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. In other contexts, when an appellate court is determining whether an issue is a matter of substantial public interest, it considers "(1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature; (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur." Westerman v. Cary, 125 Wash.2d 277, 286, 892 P.2d 1067 (1994)(addressing the question of whether to review an issue that is moot).

In the present case, the Appellate Court's decision in BNY Two fails under the second prong of the analysis as the Court of Appeal's application of the law on summary judgment is within well settled law on the subject. The Court of Appeals was entitled to affirm the trial court's decision on any ground supported by the record. See e.g. Redding v. Virginia Mason Med. Ctr., 75 Wash.App. 424, 426, 878 P.2d 483 (1994). Given the undisputed evidence of

Barbanti's failure to make payment under the Hooper-Barbanti contract, it was reasonable for the Court of Appeals to conclude that Barbanti had defaulted and that that portion of the trial court's determination on summary judgment should be upheld. Review of such a straight forward application of the law on summary judgment would not offer any new guidance to public officers. Accordingly, BNY Two does not present a question of substantial public interest and this court should decline to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

III. CONCLUSION

The record on appeal clearly demonstrates that none of the four factors warranting review under RAP 13.4(b) are present in this case. The record on appeal supports the Appellate Court's decision that summary judgment on the question of Barbanti's default was properly decided in favor of BNY. As such, the Appellate Court's decision does not conflict with other appellate or Supreme Court decisions, nor does the opinion present significant questions of constitutional law or involve a substantial public interest. Review under RAP 13.4(b) therefore is inappropriate and should not be granted.